2005

# George M. Lee and Gerald Lee v. Miles Walter Langley : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal arose under the original appellate jurisdiction of the Utah Supreme Court found in Section 78-2(j), U.C.A. The appeal was transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals under Section 78-2-2(4), U.C.A. Consideration of the appeal by certiorari is authorized by Section 78-2-3(5), U.C.A.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Multiple issues were presented for consideration by the Utah Court of Appeals. In granting certiorari, this Court limited the issue for consideration to the following:

**A. Issue.** Whether a bail agreement violates public policy to the extent it purports to permit a bail enforcement agent not licensed in Utah to apprehend a fugitive.

**B. Standard of Review.** The trial court's application of law will be reviewed under a correctness standard with reversal justified if instructions to the jury were prejudicial in that they misadvised or misled the jury on the law. *Butler v. Naylor*, 1999 Ut. 86, 987 P.2d 41. Jury instructions are examined in their entirety and will be affirmed if the instruction taken as a whole fairly instructs the jury on the law applicable to the case. *Paulos v. Covenant Transport, Inc.*, 2004 Ut. App. 35 86 P.3d 752.

## DETERMINATIVE LAW

Plaintiffs claim the following controls resolution of the issues presented:

**A.** Section 31A-35-601, U.C.A. (1999).

B. Title 53, Chapter 11, U.C.A. (1999).

These statutes are reproduced in the Addendum.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. NATURE OF THE CASE.** This is a tort action by two men for assault, false imprisonment, and negligence or reckless endangerment arising from an assault by a Colorado bail enforcement agent at the home of one of them in Utah.

**B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.** The incident which is the subject of this suit occurred on April 2, 1999. The Plaintiffs filed a *pro se* complaint with the Eighth District Court in Uintah County on February 28, 2000. (R., p.3. Addendum A). All Defendants eventually answered the complaint with Defendant Langley answering *pro se*. (R., p. 22). Defendant, Ranger Insurance Company subsequently made a Cross-claim on March 7, 2002 against Defendants Thorpe and Langley. (R., p. 114).

In March, 2002, current counsel for Plaintiffs appeared for the first time. (R., p. 116). Counsel for Robert Thorpe withdrew. (R., p. 140). The case was configured thereafter with Plaintiffs and Ranger Insurance Company having legal counsel and Defendants Thorpe and Langley acting *pro se*.

Discovery proceeded but Thorpe failed to show for his deposition and sanctions were sought by the Plaintiffs in August, 2002. (R., p. 171). The sanctions were never imposed

after representations to the court by the wife of Thorpe that he had health problems. (R., p. 240). However, Thorpe also failed to respond to Requests for Admissions. (R., p. 356).

Trial was held before a jury for three days commencing February 2, 2004. During the course of the trial the court dismissed Plaintiffs' cause of action for false imprisonment. (Trial Transcript (TT) at R. p. 1187 at pp. 213-216). The assault and reckless endangerment claims were presented to the jury. (Jury Instructions R. pp. 1032-1034.)

Robert Thorpe failed to show for the trial. The court denied the request of Plaintiffs to enter his default. (TT at R. p. 1187, p. 34). The court did grant the motion at trial of Defendant Ranger Insurance Company to enter the default of Robert Thorpe on the cross-claim brought by Ranger and later entered a formal order. (R., p. 1261). Thorpe similarly did not respond to the appeal at the Utah Court of Appeals.

This Court entered final judgment upon Plaintiffs' claims on March 17, 2004. (R., p. 1067). A Notice of Appeal was filed April 14, 2004. (R., p. 1143). Subsequently, Ranger Insurance Company caused a formal judgment to be entered against Robert Thorpe upon its cross-claim on October 13, 2004. (R., p. 1261). To be cautious about being sure the new judgment against Thorpe long after trial did not create a new appeal time, a Second Notice of Appeal was filed by Plaintiffs on November 12, 2004.

Appeal was taken originally to the Utah Supreme Court. This Court transferred the appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals on April 16, 2004. The Court of Appeals issued its opinion after briefing and oral argument on August 4, 2005, affirming the result in the District Court. *Lee v. Langley*, 2005 Ut. App. 339, 121 P.3d 33. (Addendum “B”).

The Appellants petitioned for certiorari on August 25, 2005 and it was granted on November 16, 2005, with respect to the one primary issue stated above.

**C. DISPOSITION OF TRIAL COURT.** A jury verdict of no cause of action was entered against the Plaintiffs on February 4, 2004. (R., p. 1053). The formal judgment followed on March 17, 2004. (R., p. 1067). The judgment rendered was upon Plaintiffs causes for assault and reckless endangerment with the false imprisonment claim having been dismissed at trial as a matter of law.

## **RELEVANT FACTS**

### **A. THE PLAYERS.**

**George Lee**, plaintiff and appellant, is a resident of Uintah County, Utah. (Complaint, R., p. 3 at Addendum “A”).

**Gerald Lee**, plaintiff and appellant, is the brother of George Lee and also resides in Uintah County, Utah. (Complaint, R., p.3). He was the fugitive from the Colorado courts.

**Miles Langley** was a past police officer in the Grand Junction Colorado area, a sometimes bar bouncer, and a sometimes bail enforcement agent or bounty hunter. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 58-62).

**Robert Thorpe** was the owner of A-1 Bail Bonds located in Grand Junction, Colorado. His wife, **Maria Thorpe**, was also an agent with him. (Plaintiff Exhibit 2, p. 1. R., p. 999 in Addendum “C”).

**Ranger Insurance Company** is an insurer operating as a bail bond surety in Colorado for A-1 Bail Bonds that had entered agency contracts with Robert and Maria Thorpe. Ranger Insurance Company was not licensed to be a bail bond surety within the state of Utah. (TT, R., p. 1187 at 266).

## **B. THE EVENTS.**

Gerald Lee was arrested for driving under the influence and driving without proof of insurance in late 1998 in the Grand Junction, Colorado area. He was jailed in Grand Junction Colorado and released on bail issued by A-1 Bail Bonds operated by Robert Thorpe. (Gerald Lee testimony at TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 105-106). Despite posting bail, Gerald missed his court appearances in Colorado, claiming he was supposed to be in two courts at the same time. (Lee testimony at TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 109-110). The bail contract provided Gerald consented to apprehension upon violation of the requirement to appear. (Addendum “H”).

Langley was hired by Robert Thorpe in Grand Junction to go get Gerald Lee for jumping bail. (Langley Testimony, TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 73-78). Thorpe and Langley knew Gerald was in Utah. Langley left Colorado for Utah with the intent of enforcing a Colorado arrest warrant. He first checked in with local police in the Uintah County area and then went alone to the home of George Lee, the brother of Gerald, in Naples, Utah. (Langley testimony, TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 83-84).

Langley knocked on the door and George answered. Langley said he was from Christian Brothers Construction Company and was looking for a good mechanic to hire and heard that Gerald was looking for work. George invited him into the house through a door into the kitchen area. Gerald came into the room and Langley again repeated he was from a construction company and had a job for Gerald and extended his hand as if to shake hands. Gerald extended his hand in response and Langley suddenly produced and placed a handcuff on Gerald's arm. Gerald reacted by pushing Langley back and Langley, a very large man, struck Gerald. George reacted to protect his brother and grabbed Langley. (Langley testimony, TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 85-87). The facts diverge here but the Lees say that Langley never said he was a bail enforcement agent and Langley admitted to that in the Answer he filed with the court. (Langley Answer R., p.22). Lees were reacting to a stranger suddenly attacking Gerald. (Lee testimony TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 111-118; 189-195).

A short fight followed in which Langley beat up Gerald pretty well and left George unconscious on the floor of the kitchen in a pool of blood. Gerald testified that Langley dragged him out of the house literally by the heels with his head banging on the floor and steps of the porch as he was taken outside to Langley's vehicle. (TT, R., p. 1187 at p. 117).

George testified that he awoke and called the sheriff's office to report a kidnaping, still unaware Langley claimed to act under any legal authority. The police responded and cited both Langley and the Lees for assault of each other. (TT, R., p. 1187 at p. 194).

Langley took Gerald to a hospital in Uintah County for examination. A neck brace was placed on him and a general examination of his bruises was made. Gerald was released to the custody of Langley who put Gerald in his pickup truck and took him through a terrible snow storm over dangerous roads back to Grand Junction. Gerald was examined again in a hospital in Grand Junction. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 123-129).

Gerald bailed out of the jail again by using Robert Thorpe. Gerald testified out of the presence of the jury that he saw Thorpe hand Langley the cash for bringing him back to Utah and saw Thorpe execute a receipt for the prisoner and note payment to Langley. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 276-278).

A trial was subsequently held in the Uintah County Justice Court for all three Defendants at the same time. Langley was convicted of assault. George and Gerald Lee were acquitted of any crime. (R. p. 45).

Ranger Insurance Company was the bond surety in Colorado for the Lee bail through A-1 Bail Bonds and Robert Thorpe. (Plaintiff Trial Exhibit 1, R., p. 999). Ranger is not licensed to underwrite bail bonds in Utah. (TT, R., p. 1187 at p. 266).

Plaintiffs brought this action against the Defendants for negligence or reckless conduct, false imprisonment, and assault. (Complaint, R., p. 3 and R., p. 322). Ranger Insurance was named a defendant under Utah's law making a bond surety liable for the acts of an enforcement agent, § 31A-35-601(2), U.C.A.

Other significant events occurred just before and during the trial of note. First, Miles Langley died so his testimony was presented by deposition. Second, Robert Thorpe failed to appear for trial. The court denied a motion by the Plaintiffs to have his default entered but granted the motion in favor of Ranger Insurance Company on their cross-claim for a default and judgment for failure to appear and defend. (TT. R., p. 1187 at pp. 34 and 227).

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This brief looks carefully at the law of arrest in Utah and the public policy behind it. The Lees recognize that there is a contract provision in the Colorado bail bond contract that



allows the bond surety to cause the apprehension of a fugitive. Also, federal case law creates a general right of the bail bondsman to pursue the fugitive and enforce the contract in other states. However, other states have considered and held that the right to enforce the bail bond contract from another state falls to the public policy of the state in which the contract is sought to be enforced.

An examination of the public policy expressed through the statutes of this state shows that Miles Langley had no legal authority to arrest Gerald Lee and assault his brother, George Lee, in Utah. The trial court erred its instruction of the law of arrest to the jury and by dismissing the false imprisonment claim.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **A. INTRODUCTION**

This appeal presents extraordinarily interesting legal questions that can safely be said do not arise very often at all. Plaintiffs believe that the primary cause of the adverse jury decision was the way the court interpreted and applied legal principles governing the power to make an arrest. Specifically, the trial court instructed the jury in a way that they had no choice but to conclude the Colorado bounty hunter Miles Langley had legal authority to make an arrest or apprehension of Gerald Lee in Utah. This brief explains why that fundamental proposition is simply not true.

## **B. PLAINTIFFS' THEORY OF THE CASE**

Plaintiffs presented at trial through the evidence, a trial brief, and jury instructions theories of liability which they believe to be consistent with applicable law. (R., p. 836 and 985). This Court needs to understand the Plaintiffs' theory of the case at trial in order to appreciate where the trial court went wrong.

Plaintiffs divided facts and legal concepts between each of them at trial because they had a significant difference in their legal status. Gerald Lee was a fugitive from the state of Colorado on misdemeanor warrants. George Lee had no pending charge in Colorado and the entry and assault took place in George's home. Langley, Thorpe, and Ranger Insurance had no legal authority to be operating in Utah. Consequently, the arrest by Langley was without lawful authority and, in fact, specifically contrary to Utah law. With no lawful authority, the seizure of at least Gerald Lee and, arguably, George Lee, by entering his home and knocking him unconscious, presented a valid claim of false imprisonment. Langley's acts without justification in law eliminated any defenses to his physical force constituting an assault.

Finally, Plaintiffs relied upon a Utah statute that makes a bond surety responsible for acts of the bail enforcement bond agent to impute liability to Ranger Insurance Company. The doctrine of respondeat superior would also apply.

## **C. FINDING AND APPLYING PUBLIC POLICY**

### **1. The Role of Public Policy**

This Court directed in granting the Writ of Certiorari that this appeal focus on whether enforcement of the bail contract made in Colorado violates the public policy of Utah. Appellants present here an objective discussion of the law concerning public policy and how it is to be applied. What follows the discussion of public policy is a specific look at why the contract at issue did not create arrest powers in Utah.

This Court stated in *Laney v. Fairview City*, 2002 Ut. 79, 57 P.3d 1007, that public policy is a term describing the principles and standards regarded by the legislature or by the courts as being of fundamental concern to the state and the whole of society. Public policy is a guiding star for the courts in interpreting and applying the law. For example, when an appellate court has under consideration a statute whose language is uncertain, construction of that statute is done in a way to promote the public policy expressed by the statute and thereby achieve the objectives of the legislature. *Carlie v. Morgan*, 922 P.2d 1 (Utah 1996).

Put in the context of this appeal, the bail contract at issue is enforceable in Utah provided its terms are not contrary to Utah public policy. This is not a novel concept and has arisen many times in Utah law.

Examples of public policy affecting the enforceability of a contract include *Hawkins v. Peart*, 2001 Ut. 94, 37 P.3d 1062. There, this Court declined to enforce a liability release of a minor child and an attempt to require a parent to indemnify the releasee. The contractual release was found unenforceable because it violated public policy of the state of Utah favoring protection of minors with respect to contractual obligations and removing incentive to act with reasonable care.

Another example of the voiding of a contract for public policy reasons is *Peterson v. The Sunrider Corporation*, 2002 Ut. 43, 48 P.3d 918. At issue there was whether a contract relating to a marketing organization violated the Pyramid Scheme Act, Section 76-6a-1, U.C.A. This Court recognized that public policy could render a contract unenforceable that is contrary to law under an analysis of three steps. First, the court must determine what the terms of the contract are. Second, the court must determine what the statute at issue prohibits. Third, the court must determine whether the statute or public policy demands that the contract be deemed unenforceable.

## **2. Constitutional Considerations**

An analysis of the contract's enforceability in Utah cannot ignore Article I, Section 10 of the United States Constitution which prohibits the states from enacting a law "impairing the obligations of contract". This clause was long ago determined to not be

absolute and there are exceptions to the rule. *Home Building & Loan Association v. Blaisdell*, 290 U.S. 398 (1934).

A primary recognized exception to the impairment of contracts clause is the public policy of the state in which the contract is carried out. If the state law barring enforceability of the contract is of a character appropriate to the public purpose behind the legislation, the contract may be found unenforceable. *Stillman v. Teachers Insurance & Annuity Association*, 343 F.3d 1311 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003). *See also In re: Walker*, 959 F.2d 894 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992), where the standard was applied that a state may impair a contract where supported by significant and legitimate purpose.

These cases tell us that public policy has such great weight in considering contracts that even the constitutional prohibition against the impairment of contracts falls in light of legitimate state purposes.

### **3. Public Policy of the Law of Arrest in Utah**

The apprehension or arrest of persons involves significant constitutional rights found in the Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution governing search and seizure and Due Process. Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution prohibits deprivation of liberty without due process of law. Section 8 of the same Article recognizes a right of bail and Section 14 prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. What these Utah

and U.S. Constitution provisions make clear is that the public policy of the nation and of Utah is to recognize and protect the life and liberty of their respective citizens.

Utah had in place when this incident occurred in 1999 a comprehensive set of statutes governing who may make arrests in Utah and under what circumstances. (*See* Title 77, Chapter 7 of the Utah Code at Addendum “D”). (The version in effect in 1999 is included at Addendum “D”). As a general statement, an arrest can be made by peace officers and by private persons under certain listed circumstances.

A second source of arrest law is found in Rule 6, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. (Addendum “E”).

A review of the Utah Criminal Code and Rules of Criminal Procedure shows that arrests were tightly regulated by law in 1999 in recognition of constitutional rights to reasonable searches and seizure and in recognition of a general public policy that arrest power needs to be controlled.

What might be called a sub branch of arrest law in Utah in 1999 is the apprehension of persons free on bail. That branch of law governing the seizure of persons is also rife with public policy analyzed in detail next.

#### **4. Utah Legal Framework for Bail Apprehension**

The court's attention is drawn to certain specific statutes in the Utah Code that were in effect at the time of this incident found in Addendum "F". Note that there have been some revisions to Title 77, Chapter 20 since this incident. All references are to Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, in effect in 1999 when the arrest took place.

Specifically, Section 77-20-8.5(2) provides that bond sureties may arrest a defendant at any time before exoneration at any place within the state. Note also that subsection (3) provides that a surety acting under this section is subject to the provisions of Title 53, Chapter 10, discussed below. (Addendum "G").

While Title 77 governs criminal arrest procedure, Title 53 governs the licensing and powers of bail enforcement agents. When one turns to Title 53, Chapter 10 as directed by Section 77-20-8.5, it is immediately observed that this statute is wrong in its reference. The appropriate chapter of Title 53 is Chapter 11. That chapter, known as the Bail Bond Recovery Act, gives a comprehensive legal framework for the business operations of bail bond agents. What jumps out immediately is the fundamental requirement in Section 53-11-107 that there are three classes of licenses and no person may act as a bail enforcement agent or bail recovery agent without holding a Utah license. Sections 53-11-108, 109 and 111 go

on to set the training and education requirements of bail enforcement agents and bail recovery agents. (Addendum “G”).

Title 53, Chapter 11, imposes requirements relevant to this appeal on bail enforcement agents in how they do their job. Section 53-11-120 requires a bail enforcement agent upon request to identify his employer. Section 53-11-122 states that in order to make an arrest a bail enforcement agent shall so identify himself to the person being arrested after notifying local police authority.

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