2005

George M. Lee and Gerald Lee v. Miles Walter
Langley, Robert P. Thorpe, and The Ranger
Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The bail agreement at issue in this case does not violate Utah's public policy. It does not purport to allow anyone to do anything contrary to Utah law. Rather, it effectively limited Gerald Lee's ability to sue Ranger and Mr. Langley after Mr. Lee became a fugitive and thereby created a need for his apprehension.

Enforcement of the bail agreement is consistent with Utah's public policy. Colorado has the same public policy interests as Utah in regulating bail recovery agents. Mr. Langley satisfied Colorado's regulations for bail recovery, since he was licensed in

Colorado. It is uncontested that Mr. Langley would have had the statutory authority to arrest Lee but for his alleged lack of a Utah license.⁵ Multiple public policy goals are at stake; Utah's interest in regulating the practice of private bail recovery is no more important than its interest in making sure that fugitives at large within its borders are apprehended. Enforcing the bail agreement best balances Utah's various public policy interests.

Extensive common law, based on *Taylor v. Taintor*, 83 U.S. 287 (1873), establishes the right of a bail recovery agent to apprehend fugitives across state lines under bail agreements such as the one in this case. Comity principles also require that Utah accord due deference to bail recovery agents who meet the standards established by other states' bail recovery regulations, as long as those other states' regulations are substantially similar to Utah's regulations and serve the same public policy goals as Utah's regulations.

VI. ARGUMENT

THE BAIL AGREEMENT AT ISSUE DOES NOT VIOLATE UTAH PUBLIC POLICY

A. The Bail Agreement Did Not Purport to Permit Any Action Contrary to Utah Law.

The bail agreement in this case did not allow Ranger or Mr. Langley to flout the law. It simply permitted Gerald Lee to, in exchange for being released from jail, contract away the right to bring a civil suit against a bail enforcement agent if he fled the

⁵Again, there was no evidence presented at trial, and no evidence in the record, that Mr. Langley was not licensed in Utah.

jurisdiction and thereby created a need for the agent to apprehend him. The contract provided, in pertinent part:

1. Ranger shall have control and jurisdiction over me during the term for which my bail bond(s) is executed and shall have the right to apprehend and surrender me to the proper officials at any time for violation of my bail bond(s) obligations to the Court and Ranger as provided by law.
2. It is understood and agreed that any one of the following actions by me shall constitute a breach of my obligations to Ranger and that Ranger and/or its Agent shall have the right to forthwith apprehend and surrender me in exoneration of my bail bond(s):
 - a. If I depart the jurisdiction of the court without written consent of the court and Ranger or its Agent.
 -
3. If I depart the jurisdiction of the Court wherein my bail bond(s) is posted by Ranger for any reason, and I am captured by Ranger and/or its Agent . . . in a State other than the one in which my bail bond(s) is posted, I hereby agree to voluntarily return to the State of original jurisdiction, and I hereby waive extradition proceedings and further consent to the application of such reasonable force as may be necessary to effect such return.

(*Lee v. Langley*, 2005 UT App 339 at ¶ 2, 129 P.3d 33). The contract says nothing about whether the bail recovery agent must comply with the bail recovery laws of other jurisdictions into which a fugitive may flee. It does not purport to exempt the bail recovery agent from any criminal liability that may arise from the manner in which he apprehends a fugitive. All the contract in this case did was prevent Gerald Lee from suing Mr. Langley for apprehending him pursuant to the contract. As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, “Langley’s authority to arrest Lee arose from the bail contract, and that authority existed even if its exercise by Langley, an unlicensed bail

enforcement agent, was illegal.” *Id.* at ¶ 10 (citing *Mosley v. Johnson*, 453 P.2d 149, 152 (1969)).

The Lees have made no attempt to refute this crucial analysis of the Court of Appeals: “While the bail contract would not relieve Langley from criminal liability under the Act, it does preclude Lee from arguing in this civil action that Ranger—and by extension Langley—had no authority to apprehend him in Utah.” *Id.* at ¶ 15 (citing *Snyder v. Lovercheck*, 992 P.2d 1079, 1087 (Wyo. 1999) (holding that contracting parties “are not permitted to assert actions in tort in an attempt to circumvent the bargain they agreed upon”)). Utah’s statutes on bail recovery do not prohibit parties from privately agreeing that a bail recovery agent can apprehend a fugitive. The Lees do not claim, as they cannot, that any statutory language actually specifically prohibits bounty hunters licensed elsewhere from apprehending fugitives in Utah. The Lees’ argument in its brief to this Court is simply that enforcement of a contract, freely entered into, contravenes Utah’s supposed public policy regarding bail recovery. To the contrary, Utah’s public policy strongly weighs in favor of finding the contract enforceable.

B. Utah’s Public Policy Strongly Supports Enforcing the Bail Agreement.

There is substantially more depth to Utah’s public policy on bail recovery than the Lees suggest. The Lees emphasize the statutory requirement that a bail recovery agent in Utah be licensed, but the Court should consider the *reasons* why licensing is required. The Lees exalt the licensing requirement as if licensing itself was an end goal of Utah’s public policy, when it is simply a means to effectuate that public policy.

1. Colorado's Bail Recovery Agent Requirements Foster the Same Public Policy Goals as Utah's Bail Recovery Agent Requirements.

Understanding Utah's public policy on bail recovery requires more than mere recognition of the fact that Utah requires bail recovery agents to be licensed. Licensing is essentially a means to ensure that bail recovery agents do not have criminal backgrounds, Utah Code Ann. § 53-11-108(1)(2), and have attained a minimum level of training in fugitive apprehension. *Id.* at 53-11-108(4)(b). The statute mandates a training program of at least sixteen hours in length, which must include training in four main areas: "instruction on the duties and responsibilities" of a bail recovery agent, "the laws and rules relating to the bail bond business," "the rights of the accused," and "ethics." *Id.* § 53-11-108(4)(a)(I) - (iv). Additionally, a bail recovery agent must also have a minimum of 1,000 hours of "experience consisting either of actual bail recovery work, or work as a law enforcement officer." *Id.* at § 53-11-111(1)(a).

Not surprisingly, Colorado, where it is undisputed that Mr. Langley was licensed, has the same public policy goals with respect to bail recovery. Those goals are evident in Colorado's requirements for bail recovery agents. In Colorado, someone applying to be a bail recovery agent must first have his fingerprints taken by a law enforcement agency. Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-7-105.5(2) (2003). The law enforcement agency then submits those fingerprints to the Colorado Bureau of Investigation (the "CBI") for a background investigation. *Id.* During the background investigation, the CBI checks the applicant's fingerprints against both its own records and those of the FBI. *Id.* § 12-7-105.5(3). The

purpose of the background investigation is to ensure that the prospective applicant has never “been convicted of or pled guilty or nolo contendere to any felony under federal or state law during the previous fifteen years.” *Id.* A bail bonding agent cannot hire a bail recovery agent without first confirming that the applicant has successfully passed the background check. *Id.* § 12-7-105.5(1)(a).

In addition to passing a criminal background check, Colorado requires that an applicant to be a bail recovery agent receive formal training in “bail fugitive apprehension.” *Id.* § 12-7-105.5(1)(b). This training must conform to the standards established by the “peace officers standards and training board” (“POST”). *Id.* The bail recovery training program entails a minimum of sixteen hours of instruction on five main subjects: Introduction to Bail Recovery, Principles of Criminal Culpability, Colorado Criminal Code, Firearms and Weapons, and Seizure-Entry. *See* Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies (“DORA”), Notice of Prelicensure Education Requirements For Bail Bonding Agents (“Colorado Education Requirements”), Addendum A at 2, 7⁶; *compare with* Utah Code Ann. § 53-11-108(4)(a)(I) - (iv) (requiring sixteen hour training program in “duties and responsibilities” of a bail recovery agent, “the laws and rules relating to the bail bond business,” “the rights of the accused,” and “ethics”). One of the three primary learning objectives of the course on “Introduction to Bail Recovery” is specific instruction on *Taylor v. Taintor*, 83 U.S. 287 (1873). *See* Colorado Education

⁶At <http://www.dora.state.co.us/insurance/regs/b07-99.doc> (indicating Bail Recovery Training Program adopted by POST on 12/4/98).

Requirements at 7. A bail bonding agent's license will be revoked if he knowingly hires a bail recovery agent who failed the criminal background check, or is not POST-certified in bail fugitive apprehension. Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. at § 12-7-106(1)(b).

“It is uncontested that Langley would have had the statutory authority to arrest Lee but for his lack of a [Utah] license.” *Lee*, 2005 UT App. 339 at ¶ 15 (citing W. Page Keeton et al., *Prosser and Keeton on the Law of Torts* § 36 at 226 (5th ed. 1984) (licensing statutes create no liability if the actor is competent but unlicensed)). The Lees do not dispute Mr. Langley's competence or qualifications. Mr. Langley had the background, training, and experience to operate as a Utah bail recovery agent by meeting the requirements to obtain a Colorado license. He was licensed in Colorado, but the Lees claim, without supporting evidence, he was not licensed in Utah. That does not warrant invalidating the bail contract.

2. Utah's Other Public Policy Goals, Such As Encouraging Private Bail Recovery, and Avoiding Creation of a Haven for Fugitives, Support Enforcing the Bail Recovery Agreement.

Utah's public policy strongly favors the use of private bail recovery agents to apprehend fugitives. While Utah has an important public policy interest in regulating bail recovery agents, it also has equally important public policy interests in seeing that fugitives from Utah's justice system are apprehended. Likewise, Utah has a strong interest in seeing that fugitives who flee to Utah from other states are apprehended, lest Utah become a haven for out-of-state fugitives. *See Boudreaux v. State*, 1999 UT App. 310, ¶ 27, 989 P.2d 1103 (citing *Emig v. Hayward*, 703 P.2d 1043, 1049 (Utah 1985))

(noting that state into which fugitive has fled has a “strong interest” in delivering fugitive back to state from which fugitive fled)). As long as bail agreements such as the one at issue in this case are enforceable, all three of these public policy interests are protected. If the bail agreement in this case were invalidated, the current balance of public policy interests would be upset.

The current system of private bail recovery, when reasonably regulated, serves all of these interests. This system is built on 134 years of reliance on *Taylor v. Taintor*. Colorado and Utah (and, it is safe to assume, other states as well) have enacted statutes to ensure that bail recovery agents are law-abiding and competent in safe fugitive apprehension. Were this Court to determine that the bail agreement is invalid because Mr. Langley was licensed in Colorado but allegedly not licensed in Utah, the logical extension of that determination is that Utah bail recovery agents cannot pursue fugitives who have committed criminal offenses in Utah into other states, to bring those fugitives back to Utah so they are held accountable for their transgressions. If Utah bail recovery agents were forced to stop pursuing fugitives to other states, Utah’s interest in apprehending those fleeing Utah’s justice system would be stymied.

Utah could become a haven for fugitives if fugitives in other states were able to throw off their pursuers by crossing into Utah. If the bail agreement were unenforceable, companies such as A-1 would have to employ a different bail recovery agent for every state into which a fugitive fled, geometrically increasing the cost of providing bail services. This added cost would hurt not just bail bonding companies, but also people

who wish to be bailed out of jail, many of whom would find bail unaffordable. Many more people would stay in jail, overwhelming jail facilities.⁷ Mr. Langley testified that he had apprehended fugitives in Utah on several prior occasions without incident. On this occasion, he informed local law enforcement authorities that he was apprehending Mr. Lee pursuant to valid Colorado arrest warrants. The Utah authorities did not stop Mr. Langley or inquire if he was licensed in Utah; instead, they acknowledged his authority to

⁷See Jonathan Drimmer, “When Man Hunts Man: The Rights and Duties of Bounty Hunters in the American Criminal Justice System,” 33 Houston L. Rev. 731, 761-62 (1996). Drimmer has explained:

Moreover, bondsmen and bounty hunters help ease prison overcrowding, a condition which, by 1987, had resulted in judicial rulings in almost every state finding the state correctional system unconstitutional and ordering major changes. To relieve the burden on prisons and help decrease state pretrial detention costs, courts began to set lower bail rates. Although lower bail rates cause more defendants to be freed on bail before trial, they also cause more defendants to fail to properly appear in court. Cuts in police budgets and manpower has made it impractical to chase those defendants, leading states and bondsmen to increase their reliance on bounty hunters, whose participation in the criminal justice system saves the state expenses associated with searching for, arresting, and transporting the suspect to court.

The increased reliance states and bondsmen place on bounty hunters is well deserved. Based on their expertise and economic incentives, bounty hunters are significantly more effective at retrieving fugitives than the police, returning 99.2% of suspects committed to the custody of bondsmen. Because of that proficiency, police also enlist the aid of bounty hunters to help track down elusive criminal suspects before an initial arrest or after an escape, and experts have even proposed entirely privatizing fugitive retrieval through the use of bounty hunters. Thus, state privatization efforts and endeavors to decrease prison overcrowding and costs have made bondsmen and bounty hunters valuable participants in state pretrial detention programs.

. . . The ultimate beneficiaries of bounty hunters’ comprehensive powers are the states themselves, who are freed from the financial burdens of confining suspects until trial, or searching for fugitives, while remaining assured that those defendants appear for trial.

Id. at 761-64 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).

apprehend Mr. Lee and directed Mr. Langley to his whereabouts. Such cooperation between bail recovery agents and law enforcement authorities clearly comports with Utah's public policy on bail recovery, and a Utah license was not required for this cooperation to occur.

C. Common Law and Comity Principles Provide Ample Justification for Affirming the Court of Appeals.

The Lees wrongly assert that “[t]he old federal common law right of a bail bondsman to pursue a fugitive in another state was eliminated by the adoption of Title 53.” Lees’ Appellate Brief at 23. The Lees’ reasoning flies in the face of fundamental rules of statutory interpretation:

It has been said that statutes are not presumed to make any alterations in the common law further than is expressly declared, and that a statute, made in the affirmative without any negative expressed or implied, does not take away the common law. The rules of the common law are not to be changed by doubtful implication, nor overturned except by clear and unambiguous language. In order to hold that a statute has abrogated common law rights existing at the date of its enactment, it must clearly appear that they are repugnant to the act or thereof invoked, that their survival would in effect deprive it of its efficacy and render its provision nugatory.

Shifflett v. State, 560 A.2d 587, 591-92 (Md. App. 1989) (internal quotation omitted) (holding that Maryland’s statutory codification of bail bondsmen’s rights “clearly” did not abrogate bail bondsmen’s rights with respect to their principals), *aff’d*, 572 A.2d 167 (Md. 1990).

Moreover, although the Court of Appeals based its analysis primarily on the language of the bail agreement itself, *see Lee*, 2005 UT App. 339 at ¶ 15 (finding bail contract “does preclude Lee from arguing in this civil action that Ranger . . . had no

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